
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Wednesday, 22 July 2015 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, M D Booth, R Clark, G K Dark, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
A Harrison, C N Johnson, J L King, J D McLean, M J Pullen, J L Reynolds, M D Seymour 
(Chairman), A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman) and P A Williams

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   14 July 2015



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Declaration of Interests. - (Councillors are reminded that under the Code 
of Conduct they are not to participate in the whole of an agenda item to 
which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  In the interests of 
transparency, councillors may also wish to declare any other interests 
that they have, in relation to an agenda item, that supports the Nolan 
principles detailed within the Code of Conduct.)

3. Street scene and pride in the District - At its meeting on 9 June 2015, 
the Panel requested that the relevant Portfolio Holder attend to discuss 
progress on issues around street scene, and pride in the District.  The 
Portfolio Holder for Place will be in attendance for this item.

4. Addressing long-term empty homes - To set out details of the Council’s 
approach to returning long term empty homes to use (report of the 
Executive Director, Commercialisation enclosed)

This report is in response to a request for information from the Policy 
Development Panel. The Portfolio Holder for Housing and the Strategic 
Housing Manager will be in attendance.

(Pages 
1 - 22)

5. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
9 June 2015  (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
23 - 28)

6. Questions asked under Council Procedure Rule 10.3. 

7. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet 
reports of the Panel.  

8. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

9. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan, published 14 
July 2015 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
29 - 32)

10. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To set out the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (report of the Interim 
Executive Manager – Governance, enclosed)

(Pages 
33 - 42)

11. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director, Commercialisation

To: Policy Development Panel – 22 July 2015

Author: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager

Subject: Addressing Long Term Empty Homes

Purpose: To set out details of the council’s approach to returning long term empty 
homes to use

Recommendation: 

1) That the Policy Development Panel considers the attached document entitled ‘Addressing 
Long Term Empty Homes in South Holland’

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Policy Development Panel has requested that officers provide the Panel with a brief 
concerning the Council’s activity in relation to returning long- term empty homes within the 
district back into use.  

1.2 A briefing report has been produced which is attached at Appendix A to this report. The 
appended document provides an overview of the following:

 Why the Council seeks to return empty homes back to use
 The relationship between empty homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme
 The action that the Council takes to return empty dwellings to use
 The progress made against the actions within the strategy

1.3 The South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 is attached at Appendix B.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1      Option 1: That the Panel considers the information and provides feedback.

2.2      Option 2: Do nothing. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The reason for recommendation is for Policy Development Panel to consider the appended 
briefing report and provide feedback.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To return 75 empty homes to use per annum.

4.2 To maximise New Homes Bonus income to the authority. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4.



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong link between work around empty homes and our corporate priorities, 
notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 
and thrive. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There is often a link between empty dwellings and anti-social behaviour. Addressing the 
issue of long term properties should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti 
social behaviour. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1   The additional resource committed retrospectively within the strategy has a financial 
implication for the authority. This has been dealt with as part of a previous exercise.

 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into 
the condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing 
agenda.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1    There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to bring 
empty homes back into use. For example, the use of non-mandatory enforcement powers 
(i.e. Compulsory Purchase, Empty Dwelling Management Orders etc) carry with them 
certain degrees of financial risk. However, decisions to utilise these powers will be made on 
a case by case basis and only where enforcement action is deemed as the last option 
available to the authority to bring a dwelling back into use. 

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

Page 2



5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are staffing implications of undertaking additional work on empty homes.  The 
Authority recruited additional resource during early 2014 to support the Council’s work in 
this area.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6 5.12.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders, but empty homes work will require the 
Council to adopt a partnership approach. There are no known implications in terms of 
timescales and consultation. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager

Telephone Number: 01775 764524

Email: mhogan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A: 

Appendix B: 

Briefing Report – Addressing Long Term Empty Homes

South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16

Page 3

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix A

Briefing Report: Addressing Long Term Empty Homes in South Holland

Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager

July 2015

Page 5



2

1. Report purpose

This briefing report sets out details of South Holland District Council’s approach to returning long term 
empty homes to use. It sets out the background to why the council is involved in this work, the activity 
that it undertakes to return dwellings to use, and the progress made in accordance with the South 
Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16. 

2. Why does the council seek to return empty homes back into use?

The overarching aims of the council in addressing the issue of empty homes are as follows: 

 To improve the supply of good quality housing in the district, including affordable housing that 
can meet the needs of local residents

 To improve the condition of the housing stock in the district
 To maximise council income through the New Homes Bonus scheme
 To improve the neighbourhood amenity and address issues such as vandalism and anti-social 

behaviour

Returning empty properties to use has a key role to play in ensuring the supply of good quality 
accommodation in the district. The authority commenced taking proactive work on the number of 
empty homes in the district around September 2013. At that time, there were a total of 417 empty 
homes in the district; a figure 60% higher than the total number of new build homes built during that 
financial year. 

Investment in vacant housing stock also assists in improving housing standards within the private 
housing stock, as well as improving neighbourhood amenity. 

Furthermore, returning empty residential properties to use is also recognised by the government’s 
New Homes Bonus scheme. A net reduction in the number of empty dwellings in the district brings 
with it an award of New Homes Bonus, and conversely a net increase in the number of empty 
properties reduces the amount of New Homes Bonus payable to the council for new dwellings built.

3. Empty Homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme

The New Homs Bonus scheme is a government scheme designed to reward local authorities who 
proactively seek to increase the supply of housing within their districts. 

In addition to receiving New Homes Bonus when an authority experiences growth in the number of 
new homes, authorities also receive New Homes Bonus when they reduce the net number of empty 
homes within their district. 

New Homes Bonus payments are calculated on the basis of the net additions to the housing stock 
(i.e. the number of additional dwellings built), added or subtracted from the change in the total number 
of empty dwellings within the district. 

Net additions to the housing stock +/- 
Net change in the number of empty properties in the district =

Total units for reward

For each ‘unit for reward’, the authority receives New Homes Bonus to the equivalent of six years of 
council tax receipts for a Band D property. The total value of one ‘unit for reward’ is £8,600, of which 
approximately £7,000 is paid to South Holland District Council. 

4. Illustrative examples of the value of empty homes work

Below are some examples setting out both the value associated with taking a proactive stance around 
empty homes work for the purposes of maximising income through New Homes Bonus.  

Page 6



3

Example One 

200 homes are built in South Holland during 2015/16. The number of empty homes recorded remains 
exactly the same compared with the previous year. 

Net increase in new homes =200
Net increase/decrease in empty properties = 0
Total units for reward = 200

Outcome: The authority gains 200 ‘units of reward’ for NHB

Example Two

200 homes are built in South Holland during 2015/16. The net number of empty homes decreases by 
50 dwellings compared with the previous year. (i.e. there are less empty homes than compared with 
the same time in the previous year)

Net increase in new homes = 200
Net increase/decrease in empty properties = 50
Total units for reward = 250 (200 new additions + 50 empty homes returned to use)

Outcome: The authority gains 250 ‘units of reward’ for NHB, 50 of which come from reducing the 
number of empty homes 

Example Three 

200 homes are built in South Holland during 2015/16. The net number of empty homes increases by 
50 dwellings compared with the previous year (i.e. there are more empty homes than compared with 
the same time in the previous year)

Net increase in new homes = 200
Net increase/decrease in empty properties = minus 50
Total units for reward = 150 (200 new additions minus 50 empty homes)

Outcome: As the number of empty homes has increased by 50, the NHB for 50 of the 200 new 
homes built is lost. 

5. What action does the council take to return empty homes back into use?

Residential property can become and remain empty for long periods for a variety of reasons. Some 
owners have a strong desire to return their dwelling to use, but are unable to realise this ambition due 
to a lack of finance, a need for advice, or issues in obtaining a buyer. Others do not have any 
intention of returning their dwelling to use, often for a range of complex reasons such as: 

 The owner has a strong emotional attachment to the dwelling, and for that reason can neither 
address the issue nor bring themselves to dispose of it

 The owner is experiencing health issues, and therefore finds it easier to ignore the issue than 
to deal with it

 The dwelling forms part of a complex arrangement relating to the owners tax liability

In the vast majority of cases, the council’s role in returning empty dwellings to use is work proactively 
and collaboratively with owners to help overcome the barriers to reuse. The council seeks to do this in 
the following ways: 

 Regular communication. The authority has established a system whereby it makes regular 
contact with owners of empty dwellings in order to establish the progress being made to 
return the dwelling to use. The response of the owner to this communication often determines 
the approach that the authority takes to return the dwelling to use. 

Page 7



4

 Property Matching Service: This is an initiative whereby the council holds and maintains a 
list of local property investors, alongside a list of empty home owners who are seeking to sell. 
In order to help return the dwelling to use, the authority will seek to match a seller to a 
potential buyer. 

 Empty Homes Advice Scheme: This is an advice service offered by the several teams 
across the council to owners of empty dwellings to assist them in the process of returning 
their property to use. The team provides a range of advice, specifically on the following: 

o Planning advice, such as listed building matters, removal of agricultural clauses, and 
demolition and redevelopment. 

o Renovation advice, including advice on project management and drafting schemes of 
work

o Housing management advice for those who wish to let-out their empty property to 
tenants

 Discounts. The council has negotiated discounted building materials costs for owners of 
empty homes, along with discounted letting and selling agent fees, for those who are working 
with the authority to return their dwelling back into use.

Conversely, in a small number of cases the authority will find itself working against the owner, seeking 
to convince the owner of the benefits of returning their dwelling back into use. Whereas the council 
has adopted an approach where it will first focus its efforts on supporting, advising and guiding empty 
property owners, it is necessary as part of any holistic approach for the authority to utilise 
enforcement powers should the need arise.

The enforcement powers available to the authority include the following: 

 Compulsory Purchase Orders. A CPO enables a public body to obtain land or property 
without the consent of the owner. They are a common tool for addressing long term empty 
dwellings. Where these powers are utilised to return vacant property to use, it is common for 
an authority to undertake a CPO whilst having a buyer for the dwelling in place. 

 Enforced Sale. The authority can force an owner to sell their dwelling by placing a land 
charge on a property, usually following the completion of works on the dwelling in default (e.g. 
addressing serious structural issues that pose a risk, improving the visual amenity of the 
dwelling etc…). The owner is given the opportunity to repay the debt prior to the sale. If the 
monies are not paid within a specified period of time the local authority can effectively act as a 
mortgagee and bring the property to sale on the open market at an auction or to a preferred 
buyer. All charges would be cleared from the proceeds of the sale, allowing the council to 
recover the cost of the works previously carried out and the remainder would be paid to the 
owner.

 Empty Dwelling Management Order. EDMOs allow a local authority to take over the 
management of an empty dwelling for a period of up to seven years. The authority then uses 
this period of time to bring the property up to a decent standard, using rental income from the 
dwelling to recuperate renovation costs. In order to obtain an EDMO, the authority must make 
a case to the Residential Property Tribunal, linking the use of the EDMO to wider issues 
caused by the dwelling within its immediate vicinity (e.g. Anti-Social Behaviour). For this 
reason their use is rare, but they remain a tool available at the hands of the local authority. 

6. What does the South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 say?

The strategy sets out our general approach to returning empty homes to use. It is structured along the 
lines of four ‘priorities for action’, those being: 

 The understand the extent of empty homes in the district, including their location and reason 
for being vacant

 To raise awareness of empty dwellings in the district, and develop partnerships that can 
assist the authority in addressing the issues

 Develop a range of options, incentives and measures designed to assist, encourage and 
where necessary compel owners to return their property back to use

 Ensuring adequate resources to undertake empty homes work, and develop a systematic 
approach to dealing with empty homes in the future

Page 8



5

The document makes a commitment to seek to return 75 dwelling back into use per annum for the 
lifespan of the strategy. The document contains an appendix entitled the Empty Homes Target 
Delivery Plan, which sets out in broad terms how existing resource levels will be allocated to help 
achieve this aim. 

7. The progress made against actions

Below is a summary of the progress made against the actions within the strategy

Planned Action Action 
Status

Comments 

To undertake an annual data cleanse of council 
tax records. This is in order to ensure that 
properties listed on council tax records as empty 
are indeed vacant, and not occupied.

GREEN
This is completed with support from 
CPBS.

To undertake a rolling programme of postal 
surveys to owners of properties which have been 
empty for greater than six months. This is in order 
to establish the reasons for the property 
becoming vacant, the reasons why it remains 
empty, and the barriers to bringing the dwelling 
back into use.

GREEN
The programme is established and in 
operation. 

Establish a Long Term Empty Homes Task 
Group, consisting of teams across the authority 
with both an interest in addressing the problems 
associated with individual long term empty 
homes, along with teams who hold statutory 
powers that may assist the authority in achieving 
its desired aims.

GREEN
This group is established and meets 
to discuss cross-departmental 
approaches to address individual 
long-term empty homes

To engage key organisations in the council’s 
empty homes work. To ensure that an ongoing 
dialogue takes place between the council and 
partner agencies to ensure that all opportunities 
to draw upon the resources, skills and expertise 
of other organisations is explored.

AMBER
SHDC has engaged with private 
landlords, agents and investors for 
joint work around empty homes. Work 
still needs to be undertaken to involve 
and engage the police, parish 
councils and fire and rescue services. 

Establish a dedicated ‘Advice and Assistance on 
Empty Homes’ space on SHDC’s webpage, along 
with a mechanism to allow member of the public 
to report details of empty homes directly to the 
authority. To look to use social media and other 
outlets to publicise the authority’s work in this 
area.

AMBER
The space on the website is yet to be 
developed (pending a wider review of 
SHDC’s website). Social media has 
been used extensively to promote our 
work around empty homes. 

Establish a ‘South Holland Empty Homes Advice 
Scheme’ for use by owners of empty dwellings. GREEN

The advice scheme has been 
established, led by the authority’s 
Private Sector Housing team in 
conjunction with Building Control, 
Planning and the wider Housing team. 

Develop access to public and privately-led Empty 
Homes ‘lease and repair’ schemes AMBER

The authority is working with a 
number of housing associations to 
facilitate access to ‘lease and repair 
schemes’. South Holland was a 
partner of the government-backed 
national Empty Homes Loan Scheme, 
but that scheme folded in October 
2014. 

Establish an Empty Homes Property Matching 
Service GREEN

The Empty Homes Property Matching 
Scheme is now established, with 37 
property investors as part of the 
scheme. 

Page 9



6

Where it is considered appropriate to do so, and 
on a case-by-case basis, the council will utilise 
enforcement powers to bring about the re-use of 
long term vacant dwellings.

GREEN
The authority is presently initiating 
enforcement action for a small 
number of properties where 
prolonged attempts to support owners 
to return their dwellings to use have 
failed. 

Increase officer resource by 0.6FTE, thus 
providing the authority with a full time officer 
resource with which to address empty homes and 
delivery the Empty Homes Strategy.  

GREEN
Completed in April 2014

Produce an Empty Homes Delivery Plan that sets 
out how officer resources will be allocated in 
order to achieve the council’s empty homes 
target.

GREEN
Completed 

8. Performance

The following statistics relate to the number of empty homes returned to use following intervention by 
the council. 

 April 2014 – April 2015: 73 empty properties returned to use
 April 2015 – July 2015: 29 empty properties returned to use. 

Page 10



Appendix B

South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16

Page 11



Introduction

South Holland District Council’s Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 sets out a clear 
direction and action plan to reduce the number of empty properties in the district. The 
authority is committed to making best use of resources to meet local housing need, 
and tackling empty homes is an important part of our strategic approach to housing. 

Strategy Aims 

The overarching aims of the council in addressing the issue of empty homes are as 
follows: 

 To improve the supply of good quality housing in the district, including 
affordable housing that can meet the needs of local residents

 To improve the condition of the housing stock in the district
 To maximise council income through New Homes Bonus
 To improve the neighbourhood amenity and address issues such as 

vandalism and anti-social behaviour

Strategy Priorities

To achieve these aims, the council’s four key priorities in this area of work are as 
follows: 

 To understand the extent of empty homes in the district, including their 
location and reasons for being vacant

 To raise awareness amongst the public and the council’s partner agencies of 
the issue of empty properties

 To develop a toolkit of options designed to assist owners of empty homes in 
bringing their properties back into use

 To develop a systematic approach to dealing with empty homes in the future

Housing need, demand and supply

There is a great deal of evidence to suggest that there are high levels of housing 
need and demand within the district of South Holland. 

In 2014 South Holland District Council, working in conjunction with neighbouring 
authorities, commissioned a study into the future housing requirements of the district 
and the wider housing market in which South Holland sits. The Peterborough Sub-
Regional Strategic Housing Market Assessment highlighted that, in order to meet the 
needs of existing and future populations, there is an annual need for an additional 
560 to 600 homes per year in South Holland alone. However, despite their being an 
evidenced need, delivery of housing has fallen short of this requirement, with 254 
homes built during 2013/14. 

The evidence clearly indicates there is a general shortage of all types of housing in 
South Holland, including a shortfall in the level of affordable housing. 

Furthermore, despite activity in the housing market increasing of late, it is still unlikely 
that the authority will see the level of housing delivery required to meet this need and 
demand. 

Consequently, it is for this reason that there is a strong case in favour of ensuring 
that the existing housing stock is appropriately utilised. This includes ensuring that 

Page 12



long term empty dwellings are returned to use, helping to add to the available supply 
of housing in the district. 

Empty Homes: The Numbers

Records from South Holland District Council’s council tax department demonstrate 
that as of September 2013 there were a total of 417 empty properties in the district, 
broken down as follows: 

 71 vacant for less than six months
 298 vacant for between six months and two years
 48 vacant for more than two years

New Homes Bonus 

Another compelling argument in favour of reducing the number of empty homes is 
the potential revenue that can be generated through the New Homes Bonus scheme. 

The New Homes Bonus (NHB) scheme was introduced by central government as a 
means of supporting local authorities that take a positive stance around increasing 
the supply of housing in their respective areas, and also for maximising the use of 
available housing stock. Announced in the 2010 Comprehensive Spending Review, 
the government has set aside over £1bn in funding for the scheme. Consequently, 
the NHB is a vital source of funding that supports the provision of public services in 
South Holland. 

The bonus is payable to local authorities where they achieve the following: 

 A net increase in the number of dwellings within their locality over the course 
of 12 months (October to October)

 A net decrease in the number of empty homes within their locality over the 
course of 12 months (October to October)

New Homes Bonus payments are calculated on the following basis:

Net additions to the housing stock +/- 
Net change in the number of empty properties in the district =

Total units for reward

Each ‘unit for reward’ is worth the equivalent of 6 years worth of council tax, based 
on a Band D calculation. The calculation below sets out the specific value of each 
‘unit for reward’ to South Holland District Council.

Average annual Band D council tax in the district of South Holland = £1441.97

£1441.97 x 6 (the equivalent number of years of council tax paid per additional 
dwelling under NHB) = £8651.82

Deduct 20% from £8651.82 (80/20 split between district and county authorities) = 
£6921.45 payable to the district council per additional dwelling

Illustrative examples of the value of empty homes work

Page 13



In the example below, there has been an increase in the total net number of 
dwellings (200 homes), along with a reduction in the net number of empty dwellings 
(25 homes). This provides a total number of ‘units for reward’ amounting to 225, each 
unit for which the council would receive an award of New Homes Bonus. 

2013/14 2014/15 Net change
Total number of 
dwellings in district 35,000 35,200 + 200

Total number of 
empty dwellings in 
district

300 275 -25

Total units for reward 225 (200 + 25)

In this scenario the authority would receive £1,557,326 in New Homes Bonus 
(£6921.45 x 225 units for reward). 

It is worth noting, however, that a net increase in the number of empty homes could 
reduce the amount the authority receives in New Homes Bonus for dwellings that it 
builds. This is demonstrated in the example below, where a net increase in the 
number of empty homes (25 units) has offset the 200 built, reducing the overall ‘units 
for reward’. 
 

2013/14 2014/15 Net change
Total number of 
dwellings in district 35,000 35,200 + 200

Total number of 
empty dwellings in 
district

300 325 + 25

Total units for reward 175 (200 – 25)

Consequently, there is a clear link between addressing empty homes and level of 
financial support that the government provides South Holland District Council to 
provide its core services. In this sense, there is a clear need to ensure: 

 That as a minimum, action is taken to limit any growth in number of empty 
dwellings across the district in order to ensure that NHB paid on new build 
homes is maximised

 That at best, action is taken to further reduce the net number of empty 
dwellings across the district in order to increase the level of NHB that the 
authority receives. 

Why bring empty properties back into use?

In summary, there are several compelling reasons why the authority should 
proactively work to bring empty properties back into use. However, in addition to the 

Page 14



reasons listed above, the re-use of vacant housing has the potential to achieve the 
following benefits to a wide range of interested parties, namely;  

The empty property owner. There are considerable advantages to the owner of 
bringing their empty property back into use. These include the release of capital if the 
property is sold, and a revenue stream in the form of rental income in the property is 
let. Furthermore, renovation works to empty property have the capacity to increase 
capital values and improve property security. 

The local community. Bringing an empty home back into use reduces the 
opportunity for vandalism, fly tipping and anti-social behaviour, all of which can 
significantly impact the local community. Unsightly properties can have a negative 
effect on neighbouring house prices and reduce pride in the area, as well as having a 
direct impact on adjoining properties through dampness and structural problems. 

The local economy. Bringing empty homes back into use encourages economic 
vitality, increasing spending in the local economy and protecting housing values 
within the neighbourhood. Unsightly properties can deter investment in an area and 
contribute towards its decline.

Priorities for action

Priority One. To understand the extent of empty homes in the district including 
their location and reason for being vacant

A major priority for the council in its empty homes work, and one upon which the 
success of the rest of its work will rest, is the need to establish the number, location 
and condition of the existing empty properties in the district. 

The main source of information available to the council on empty homes is council 
tax database records. This only provides a certain degree of basic information, 
namely: 

 The address of the property
 The name and address of the owner 
 The council tax exemption classification
 The period for which the property has been vacant

However, this information is not always sufficient in terms of detailed work around 
empty homes. Council tax records give little to no information of relevance on the 
following matters: 

 The underlying reason why the property is empty
 The issues that the property owner may be experiencing
 The condition of the property
 The size and type of the property

The importance of establishing a firm understanding of the picture relating to empty 
homes in the district forms a vitally important part of the council’s whole strategic 
approach to empty homes, especially in terms of accessing government funding to 
address the issue. 

Page 15



Action: To undertake an annual data cleanse of council tax records. This is in 
order to ensure that properties listed on council tax records as empty are 
indeed vacant, and not occupied. 

Action: To undertake a rolling programme of postal surveys to owners of 
properties which have been empty for greater than six months. This is in order 
to establish the reasons for the property becoming vacant, the reasons why it 
remains empty, and the barriers to bringing the dwelling back into use. 

Priority Two: Raise awareness of empty dwellings in the district, and develop 
partnerships that can assist the authority in addressing the issue

Closely linked to the need to understand the extent of empty homes in the district is 
the need to raise awareness of the issue of empty homes, and to develop 
partnerships with key agencies that can assist us in address the issue. 

There is a need to raise awareness of the issue of empty homes in the district for the 
following reasons; 

 To encourage the public to report empty properties, and to provide the 
authority with local intelligence regarding the history of the property and the 
whereabouts of the individual responsible for the dwelling. 

 To attract the involvement of those who could play a role in investing private 
funds into the purchase and renovation of long term empty homes

 To raise awareness of the requirement for those moving into previously long 
term vacant property to inform the council that they have moved in

 To raise awareness of the social, economic and environmental costs 
associated with keeping a property vacant

There is also a need to develop partnerships with organisations that can assist the 
council in its work around empty homes, as well as providing direct assistance to 
owners of empty dwellings. The types of organisations with whom the council needs 
to develop partnerships are as follows: 

These agencies include: 

 Public bodies such as Lincolnshire Police, parish councils, and Lincolnshire 
Fire and Rescue Service

 Key housing providers, including housing associations and private landlords
 Local authority team such as Building Control, Planning and Environmental 

Health.
 Empty Homes Officers within other local authorities
 Representative bodies, such as the National Landlords Association
 Local estate and letting agents
 Builders supplies merchants

The council will seek to form a Long Term Empty Homes Task Group, which will 
involve all departments within the authority who have an interest in addressing issues 
related to empty properties (such as nuisance, environmental pollution and 
improvements to visual amenity). This forum will also enable the authority to consider 
the most appropriate course of action to take to address specific long term empty 
dwellings, along with the collective powers that could achieve the aims of the group. 

Page 16



Action: Establish a Long Term Empty Homes Task Group, consisting of teams 
across the authority with both an interest in addressing the problems 
associated with individual long term empty homes, along with teams who hold 
statutory powers that may assist the authority in achieving its desired aims. 

The council will also seek to open a dialogue with key organisations that may be able 
to assist both the council, and owners of empty homes, in bringing properties back 
into use. This includes letting and selling agents who may assist those looking to sell 
or rent their property, landlords and investors who may seek to purchase long term 
empty properties, and other organisations such as charities which may seek to lease 
properties on a long term basis for their own use. The council will also require the 
assistance of the general public in reporting details concerning the history of empty 
dwellings in the community. This will only be achieved through publicising our work to 
the public and partners, and ensuring that information is readily available to those 
who want it. 

Action: To engage key organisations in the council’s empty homes work. To 
ensure that an ongoing dialogue takes place between the council and partner 
agencies to ensure that all opportunities to draw upon the resources, skills 
and expertise of other organisations is explored. 

Action: Establish a dedicated ‘Advice and Assistance on Empty Homes’ space 
on SHDC’s webpage, along with a mechanism to allow member of the public to 
report details of empty homes directly to the authority. To look to use social 
media and other outlets to publicise the authority’s work in this area.

Priority Three. Develop a range of options, incentives and measures designed 
to assist, encourage and where necessary compel owners of empty homes to 
return their property back into use. 

In order to achieve the aims of this strategy, there is a need to develop a range of 
options, incentives and measures that will enable or enforce owners of empty homes 
to bring their property back into use. This need is driven by the wide range of 
scenarios that apply to empty properties and their owners, including: 

 That the property is up for sale, but the owner is experiencing difficulties in 
finding a willing buyer

 The owner has sought to renovate the property, but has encountered financial 
or any other difficulties

 The owner has inherited the property, but is unsure what steps are best taken 
in terms of disposing or re-using the dwelling

 The owner is interested in renting out the property, but is uncertain about the 
process and/or is risk adverse

 The owner is reluctant to sell until they see an uplift in the market value of the 
property

 The owner is knowingly allowing the dwelling to remain empty and fall into a 
state of disrepair, without having plans to return the property into use. 

Page 17



In devising these options, the council will actively seek to draw upon the resources 
and expertise of a wide range of organisations, including: 

 The Empty Homes Network
 Homes and Communities Agency
 Partner housing associations
 Letting and estate agents
 Private property investors and purchasers 
 Legal advisors who work in the field of empty-homes related enforcement 

action
 The council’s own landlord and property management functions, including 

South Holland Homes

The council has operated an Empty Homes Loan scheme for some time. However, 
the scheme is based on an equity release model and consequently has proven to be 
unpopular amongst home owners when compared with the type of conventional cash 
loans accessible on the High Street. Consequently, there is a need to revise the 
council’s offer to owners of empty properties, along with introducing a range of other 
initiatives and schemes that can assist in bringing vacant property back into use. 

In many cases, empty homes remain vacant as a result of the owner not having a 
clear understanding of the options available to them with regards to its reuse. Many 
owners would have inherited their property, having never intended to be responsible 
for a vacant dwelling. In cases such as these, it is vital that owners have access to 
appropriate advice concerning the options available to them, be it renovation, sale or 
rent. Much of this advice is already available from existing services across the 
authority, including advice on renovation and the production of ‘schedules of works’ 
through the Building Control team, advice on planning-related matters through 
Development Control, and advice on property management through the council’s 
Housing teams. The authority proposes, therefore, to establish a South Holland 
Empty Homes Advice scheme through which owners of empty dwellings can access 
readily available information that will assist them in returning dwellings back into use.

Action: Establish a ‘South Holland Empty Homes Advice Scheme’ for use by 
owners of empty dwellings. 

For some owners, the barrier to returning the property to use will be a financial one. 
In terms of government-supported funding schemes, the Homes and Communities 
Agency operates a ‘lease and repair’ scheme which enables housing providers to 
lease properties on a long term basis, supported by up to £20,000 in government 
grant. Two local Registered Providers, those being Boston Mayflower and the 
Waterloo Group, are delivery partners with this scheme. 

The council will seek to ensure that it positions itself in such a way as to ensure 
owners of empty dwellings in South Holland can access to this funding stream, along 
with seeking out other privately-led initiatives designed to return empty properties 
back into use. 

Action: Develop access to public and privately-led Empty Homes ‘lease and 
repair’ schemes

Page 18



In many cases, the barrier to reuse could simply be the lack of a willing buyer for an 
empty property that had spent a period of time marketed for sale. In order to meet 
the needs of these owners, the council will seek to establish an Empty Homes 
Property Matching initiative. The initiative will aim to bring willing sellers together with 
willing buyers, including private landlords and those with an interest in investing 
private capital into vacant dwellings in the district. 

Action: Establish an Empty Homes Property Matching Service

Whereas many owners will have a strong desire to see their property returned to use, 
but may be restricted by a lack of finance, a need for advice and/or a need for a 
buyer, a small number of owners will have no intention of bringing their vacant 
property back into use.

The reasons behind a property owner’s decision to leave a dwelling empty can range 
from the very simple, through the hugely complex. Some of the most common 
reasons why owners have no intention of returning a property to use are as follows: 

 The owner has a strong emotional attachment to the dwelling, and for that 
reason can neither address the issue nor bring themselves to dispose of it

 The owner is experiencing health issues, and therefore finds it easier to 
ignore the issue than to deal with it

 The dwelling forms part of a complex arrangement relating to the owners tax 
liability

Where an owner is unwilling to see their dwelling returned to use, the council may 
decide to take a more formal approach in ensuring that the owner takes responsibility. 
When an authority decides to take enforcement action, the authority has several 
options available to it, including: 

 Compulsory Purchase Orders. A CPO enables a public body to obtain land 
or property without the consent of the owner. They are a common tool for 
addressing long term empty dwellings. Where these powers are utilised to 
return vacant property to use, it is common for an authority to undertake a 
CPO whilst having a buyer for the dwelling in place. 

 Enforced Sale. The authority can force an owner to sell their dwelling by 
placing a land charge on a property, usually following the completion of works 
on the dwelling in default (i.e. addressing serious structural issues that pose a 
risk, improving the visual amenity of the dwelling etc…). The owner is given 
the opportunity to repay the debt prior to the sale. If the monies are not paid 
within a specified period of time the local authority can effectively act as a 
mortgagee and bring the property to sale on the open market at an auction or 
to a preferred buyer. All charges would be cleared from the proceeds of the 
sale, allowing the council to recover the cost of the works previously carried 
out and the remainder would be paid to the owner.

 Empty Dwelling Management Order. EDMOs allow a local authority to take 
over the management of an empty dwelling for a period of up to seven years. 
The authority then uses this period of time to bring the property up to a 
decent standard, using rental income from the dwelling to recuperate 
renovation costs. In order to obtain an EDMO, the authority must make a 
case to the Residential Property Tribunal, linking the use of the EDMO to 
wider issues caused by the dwelling within its immediate vicinity (i.e. Anti-
Social Behaviour). For this reason their use is rare, but they remain a tool 
available at the hands of the local authority. 

Page 19



Prior to undertaking enforcement activity on the scale listed above, it is commonly 
held that an authority should first to address the matter using informal means. This is 
where the South Holland Empty Homes Advice Scheme has a key role in working 
with difficult and/or unwilling empty property owners to convince them of the need to 
return their dwelling back into use. However where this approach fails the council will 
consider, on a case by case basis, the merits of utilising the enforcement tools that it 
has available at its discretion. 

Action: Where it is considered appropriate to do so, and on a case-by-case 
basis, the council will utilise enforcement powers to bring about the re-use of 
long term vacant dwellings. 

Priority Four. Ensuring adequate resource, and developing a systematic 
approach to dealing with empty homes in the future  

In order to ensure that the number of empty homes in the district remains low, there 
is a need for the council to develop a systematic approach to dealing with the issue. 
The authority also needs to consider the level of resource that it applies to this issue. 

At present, the authority has approximately 0.4 full time equivalent (FTE) of officer-
level resource dedicated towards the issue of empty homes. In order to meet the 
aims of this strategy, the authority will seek to increase this level of resource by 
0.6FTE, thus providing the council will a full time officer resource. 

Action: Increase officer resource by 0.6FTE, thus providing the authority with a 
full time officer resource with which to address empty homes and delivery the 
Empty Homes Strategy.  

Using this full time resource, the authority will commit to a target to bring 75 empty 
properties per annum back into use for the duration of this strategy. In order to plan 
for delivery against this target, the authority will produce a brief Empty Homes 
Delivery Plan, setting out how and when officer time will be allocated. 

Action: Produce an Empty Homes Delivery Plan that sets out how officer 
resources will be allocated in order to achieve the council’s empty homes 
target. 

Page 20



Appendix One: Empty Homes Target Delivery Plan

This document sets out the approach that will be taken to meet the council’s annual 
target for returning empty dwellings into use. It also sets out a broad allocation of 
officer resource for the various types of scenario that the authority will deal with, 
along with a broad annual programme of key activity and events. 

 Annual Empty Homes Target: 75 dwellings bought back into use for the 
purposes of council tax records. 

 Monthly target: 6.25 dwellings per month (rounded up to 7)
 Empty Homes Officer resource: 1FTE (0.4FTE + 0.6FTE)

Allocation of resources

 High profile and prolific empty homes: These are dwellings that are having 
a broad social and environmental impact, including those dwellings where the 
property condition is affecting adjoining dwellings, properties in an 
exceptionally poor aesthetic condition, and empty properties where the owner 
is refusing to seek the reuse of the property. They are the dwellings that 
require the most resource in terms of officer time, along with potential 
financial commitments on behalf of the authority. 

 Medium priority empty homes: These are those that require a reasonable 
degree of officer involvement, including inspections with the owner and the 
provision of bespoke advice and assistance (i.e. planning advice, renovation 
advice, assistance in securing grant / loan funding). Resource allocation: 
Approx 30% 

 Low level empty homes: These are those dwellings where the other factors, 
along with the limited involvement of the council, may be sufficient to bring 
them back into use. They include dwellings where the property is for sale and 
is likely to sell in due course, but the sale is delayed due to the inability of the 
owner to find a buyer. Resource allocation: Approx 15% 

 Council Tax Recording Updating: This predominantly relates to the 
cleansing of council tax records to ensure that properties listed as empty are 
indeed vacant. This work is important from a New Homes Bonus perspective, 
as any inaccuracy in how empty dwellings are recorded is likely to impact 
upon the level of New Homes Bonus that the authority may receive. 
Resource allocation: Approx 25% 

Annual Timetable of Key Activities

% Officer 
Time Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct* Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

100% High level empties
90%
80%
70%

High level empties High level empties

60%
50%
40%

Medium 
level 

empties
30%

Medium level 
empties

Medium level empties

20%
10%

Low level 
empties

Council 
Tax 

Recording 
Updating

Council Tax 
Recording 
Updating

Low level empties

* CTB1 Form due to be submitted to DCLG during first week of October. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



- 2 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in Meeting Room 
1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 9 June 2015 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

M D Seymour (Chairman)
A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman)

D Ashby
J R Astill
M D Booth
G K Dark

H Drury
L J Eldridge
A Harrison
J D McLean

M J Pullen
J L Reynolds
P A Williams

In Attendance:  The Assistant Director Community, the Principal Democratic Services 
Officer and the Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Johnson 
and J L King.

Action By
3. MINUTES 

The minutes from the following meetings of the Policy 
Development Panel were signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record:

a) Policy Development Panel – 10 February 2015

b) Special meeting of the Policy Development Panel – 20 May 
2015 

4. PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL MINUTE 

Consideration was given to an extract from the minutes of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel meeting held on 3 March 2015.  
Policy Development Panel members had been invited to attend 
for an update on the current situation with regard to the following 
joint Task Groups:

 Leisure Facilities Task Group
 Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group

The Panel was reminded that a Work Programme had been 
drawn up to address the 15 recommendations of the Sir Halley 
Stewart Playing Field Task Group, and that an update on 
progress would be provided to the Panel in September 2015. 

CM, RW 

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no Declarations of Interest. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5.



- 3 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 9 June 
2015

6. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE
          10.3. 

There were no questions asked under Council Procedure Rule 
10.3. 

7. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were none. 

8. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
          PANEL

There were no items referred from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel. 

9. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan, published on 1 
June 2015.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

10. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Democratic Services 
and Legal Manager which set out the Work Programme of the 
Policy Development Panel and asked the Panel to identify and 
prioritise any issues it wished to incorporate into the 2015/16 
Work Programme.  

In identifying issues at the start of the new municipal year, a Work 
Programme could be drafted that allowed time for proper planning 
of councillor and officer resources.  However, the Work 
Programme had also to allow flexibility to incorporate other items 
at short notice.

Whilst identifying issues, Councillors were invited to look at the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations 
as whether the issue was strategic and significant and whether it 
was likely to lead to effective outcomes.  Duplication of any other 
work underway within the Council was also to be avoided.

The Panel discussed a number of areas, and the following items, 
for inclusion on the Work Programme, were raised:

Page 24



- 4 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 9 June 
2015

 Empty Homes Strategy – This was currently on the Calendar 
of Work Programme items for discussion on 22 July 2015.  
The Panel requested that the Portfolio Holder with special 
responsibility for Housing (Councillor C Lawton), and the 
Housing Manager be asked to attend the meeting for this item, 
and that the details on the Strategy be circulated with the 
agenda for that meeting.

 The Assistant Director Community suggested that the Panel 
may wish to consider the Transformation Programme as part 
of its Work Programme.  The Transformation Programme was 
made up of four different areas – digitalisation of services; how 
the Authority could best use its assets; organisational design; 
and how the Authority could become more commercial.  
Member input was sought at an early stage in order to shape 
development.  The Corporate Improvement and Development 
Team was leading on the project and could be involved in any 
future meeting with the Panel.  The Panel agreed that it 
wished to include the Transformation on its Work Programme, 
and the Assistant Director Community advised that he would 
confirm the timeframe so that the Panel could then schedule 
this work into its Work Programme.

 Councillor Astill commented that following the closure of the 
local secondary school in Crowland, the nearest school 
available for secondary school children was very close to 
capacity.  The Panel wished to be advised of the situation with 
regard to secondary school provision within South Holland, 
and how this would be affected by development in the area.  It 
was requested that an appropriate officer from Lincolnshire 
County Council attend a future meeting of the Panel.

 Councillor Woolf raised concerns regarding the appearance of 
towns within the area, and how they could be made more 
inviting.  He suggested that the Panel should look at what 
powers were available to the Authority to improve their aspect.  
The Principal Member Services Officer advised that in January 
2014, similar issues had been raised and that the Portfolio 
Holder had attended the meeting.  It was suggested that the 
relevant Portfolio Holder again be asked to attend a Panel 
meeting, and that progress on issues around street scene and 
pride in the district be discussed.

 Councillor Harrison raised concerns over the provision of 
medical and dental services within the area, in light of 
increased housing development causing a greater demand on 
these services.    It was agreed that a representative from the 
Clinical Commissioning Group be asked to attend a future 
meeting of the Panel to discuss the situation regarding doctors 
and dentists in the area.

 Councillor Dark commented that one of the recommendations 

Page 25



- 5 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 9 June 
2015

of the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group had been 
for improved management at the Field, particularly in 
controlling service costs.  He requested the information prior to 
the update on progress of the Task Group’s recommendations 
in September.  The Assistant Director Community advised that 
he would find out what the current situation was on this issue 
and contact Panel members shortly with an outcome.

 Panel members requested a list of the Authority’s current 
policies.  It was agreed that this would be sent to all members 
shortly.

AGREED:

a) That the report of the Democratic Services and Legal Manager 
be noted; 

b) That the Empty Homes Strategy be considered by the Panel at 
its next meeting on 22 July 2015, and that the Portfolio Holder 
with special responsibility for Housing, and the Housing 
Manager, attend for this item;

c) That consideration of the Transformation Programme be 
added to the Panel’s Work Programme, and that a timeframe 
for this work be agreed, once the Assistant Director 
Community had confirmed the timescales involved;

d) That an officer from Lincolnshire County Council be invited to 
attend a future meeting of the Panel to explain the situation 
with regard to secondary school provision in the area, and how 
this would be affected by development in the area;

e) That the Portfolio Holder with special responsibility for Street 
Scene and Planning attend a future meeting of the Panel to 
discuss progress on issues around street scene, and pride in 
the district;

f) That a representative from the Clinical Commissioning Group 
be invited to attend a future meeting of the Panel to explain 
the situation with regard to the provision of doctors and 
dentists in the area;

g) That the Assistant Director Community ascertain the current 
situation regarding management at the Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field, and that the Panel be advised of the outcome; 
and

h) That the Panel be provided with a list of the Authority’s current 
policies.  

CM 

RW 
CM 

CM 

CM 

CM 

RW 
CM 

CM 

Page 26



- 6 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 9 June 
2015

(The meeting ended at 7.12 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued – 14 July 2015

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

Shelley French, Democratic Services Support Officer, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: memberservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made.

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £72,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £178,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 9.

mailto:memberservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

Amendments 
and alterations to 
the South 
Holland Common 
Housing 
Allocations Policy

To approve amendments and 
alterations to the South Holland 
Common Housing Allocations

Registered Providers with 
whom the council holds 
nomination rights

Written correspondence 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Between  1 Jul 
2015 and 31 Jul 2015

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

Spalding Gypsy 
and Traveller 
Site

To award the works contract. Portfolio Holder for Assets 
and Property, Procurement 
Lincolnshire.

Portfolio Holder briefings – 
ongoing.

Housing Manager 
Between  1 Jul 2015 and 
31 Jul 2015

Portfolio Holder 
for Community 
Development

Delegations 
Report for the 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 
2014

Report outlines the delegations 
required for the Council to use the new 
powers under the Act appropriately. 

Consultation took place 
within a working group set 
up specifically to help 
implement the new 
legislation. Each 
department that is affected 
by the new legislation fed 
into the report. 
The report also went to 
CMT in April 2015. 

Delegations 
Report for the 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour, 
Crime and 
Policing Act 
2014

Cabinet 21 Jul 2015

P
age 30



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

Roofing renewal 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new roofing renewal contract 
for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing, Housing 
Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Duncan Hall Between  1 
Sep 2015 and 30 Sep 
2015

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing 

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing, Housing 
Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Manager 
Between  1 Dec 2015 and 
31 Dec 2015

*Cabinet Membership
Councillor G A Porter (Leader of the Council)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor S Slade (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

P
age 31



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Shelley French, Democratic Services Support Officer, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: memberservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 32

mailto:memberservices@sholland.gov.uk


SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Stinson, Interim Executive Manager – Governance

To: Policy Development Panel - 22 July 2015

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Policy Development Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

Page 33

Agenda Item 10.



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There are no direct carbon footprint and environmental issue implications associated with 
this report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their carbon 
footprint and environmental issue implications will be assessed.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 There are no direct constitution and legal implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their constitutional and legal 
implications will be assessed.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There are no direct contract implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their contract implications will be assessed.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the topic 
links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their crime and disorder 
implications will be assessed.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 There are no direct equality and diversity or human rights implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their equality and 
diversity and human rights implications will be assessed.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their financial implications will be assessed.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There are no direct health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their health and wellbeing 

Page 34



implications will be assessed.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, their risk management implications will 
be assessed. 

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 There are no direct safeguarding implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, their safeguarding implications will be 
assessed. 

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their staffing implications will be assessed.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 There are no direct stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their 
stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications will be assessed.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 When a task group is considered for inclusion on the Panel's Work Programme, it is 
assessed against criteria covering 'Importance', 'Impact', and 'Value for Money'.  The 
'Impact' and 'Value for Money' score indicators consider how strongly the issue will affect a 
ward(s), customer group(s) or service area(s).  Only issues scoring highly will be included 
in the Work Programme.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Christine Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Exempt Decision:  No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A
Appendix B 

Work Programme Calendar
Task Group Work Programme 2015/16

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
22 July 2015  Empty Homes Strategy – The Strategic Housing Manager 

and the Portfolio Holder for Housing to attend.
 The Portfolio Holder for Place to attend to discuss 

progress on issues around street scene, and pride in the 
district.

22 September 2015  Update on progress of work programme set up to address 
recommendations made by the Sir Halley Stewart Playing 
Field Task Group (joint Task Group therefore update 
should be provided to the Performance Monitoring Panel 
and the Policy Development Panel)

4 November 2015 
13 January 2016 
9 March 2016 
26 April 2016 

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation; 

Future meetings:

 An officer from Lincolnshire County Council to attend to explain the situation with regard 
to secondary school provision in the area, and how this would be affected by 
development in the area.

 A representative from the Clinical Commissioning Group to attend to explain the situation 
with regard to the provision of doctors and dentists in the area.

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2015/2016

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.

1. By establishing what leisure provision 
the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PMP 25 November 2014 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 39



Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 
arranged.

Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
from the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

Outline Purpose of Review…

To look into whether it was possible for 
the Council to extend the use of the Sir 
Halley Stewart Playing Field to wider 
public access, within the scope of the 
deeds.

…..based on the following Terms of 
Reference:

 To establish the situation with regard 
to finances in relation to the Sir Halley 
Stewart Playing Field;

 To establish what activities could be 
undertaken at the Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field, and what they would 
cost;

 To establish how the community 
could be included in a wider usage of 
the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field;

 To consider the promotion of the 
booking and accessibility of the Sir 

11 December 
2013

12 February 
2014

G R Aley
P E Coupland
G K Dark 
(Chairman)
A Harrison
R Perkins
E Sneath

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Final report to Council 
21 January 2015
Update from Council 
meeting to PDP 
received 10 February 
2015.
Update to PMP 3 March 
2015 including PDP 
members.

P
age 40



Halley Stewart Playing Field in order 
to ensure that the Public Benefit test 
was met.

Verbal update to PMP meeting on 3 
March 2015, including PDP members, on 
the current situation.  Following this, it 
was agreed to have a further update on 
progress of work programme set up to 
address recommendations made by the 
Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task 
Group to be provided to both Panels in 
September 2015.

Transformation 
Programme

The Transformation Programme is made 
up of four different areas – digitalisation 
of services; how the Authority could best 
use its assets; organisational design; and 
how the Authority could become more 
commercial.
Once confirmation received on 
timescales for the project, Panel to 
programme work into its Work 
Programme.

9 June 2015 TBC TBC TBC

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Addressing long-term empty homes
	Appendix A: Briefing Report
	Appendix B:South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16

	5. Minutes
	9. Key Decision Plan
	10. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A PDP Work Programme
	Appendix B PDP Work Programme


